IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

NO. 18-1545

BRIAN AND LISA TERRY,

Appellants,

V.

MEGAN DOROTHY,

Appellees.

On Appeal from the Iowa District Court for Story County

The Honorable Bethanie Currie, Judge

APPELLANTS FINAL BRIEF

Sarah M. Baumgartner, AT0012177 HEDBERG & BOULTON, P.C. 100 Court Avenue, Suite 425 Des Moines, Iowa 50309

Telephone: 515-288-4148 Facsimile: 515-288-4149 sarah@hedberglaw.com Attorney for Appellants

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I.	A GROSS NEGLIGENCE CLAIM IS BOTH APPROPRIATE AND PERMISSIBLE UNDER THE FACTS OF THIS CASE.
	Ferraro v. Marr, 490 So.2d 188 (dist. Ct. App. Fla. 1986)9
	Nelson v. Lindaman, 867 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2015)7
	Thompson v. Bohlken, 312 N.W.2d 501 (Iowa 1981)7
	Ziegler v. U.S. Gypsum., 251 Iowa 714, 102 N.W.d 152 (1960)
	Iowa Code § 85.20
II.	SINCE A GROSS NEGLIGENCE CLAIM IS APPROPRIATE, THE LOSS OF CONSORTIUM CLAIM STANDS.
	Ziegler v. U.S. Gypsum., 251 Iowa 714, 102 N.W.d 152 (1960)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case should be retained by the Supreme Court of Iowa, as it presents fundamental and urgent issues of broad public importance, requiring prompt determination by the Supreme Court as set forth under Iowa Rules of Appellate Procedure 6.1101(2)(d).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 12, 2017, a Petition and Jury Demand was filed in Story County by Brian and Lisa Terry against Megan Dorothy on the grounds of gross negligence and loss of consortium. The defendant, through her attorneys then filed her first Motion for Summary Judgment on July 16, 2018 to which the plaintiffs resisted. A hearing was ultimately held and on August 27, 2018, the trial court dismissed the petition, finding in favor of the defendant's motion for summary judgment. The plaintiff timely appealed this decision by filing a Notice of Appeal on September 6, 2018.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Brian Terry, a former employee of Lutheran Services in Iowa ("LSI") was injured at work on October 14, 2015. The workers' compensation case was then settled in a compromised settlement approved by the Iowa Workers' Compensation Commissioner on July 27,

2017. App. 18. The workers' compensation case was filed solely against LSI and its insurance carrier—no part of the workers' compensation action was against Brain Terry's supervisor, Megan Dorothy.

On October 12, 2017, Plaintiffs filed a gross negligence and loss of consortium claim against Brian Terry's supervisor at LSI, Megan Dorothy. Megan Dorothy. As stated in the Petition, the grounds for the gross negligence and loss of consortium case stemmed from an October 14, 2015 attack on Brian Terry by a client f LSI. As a result of the attack, Brian has suffered from a traumatic brain injury and has been unable to return to work to date. In the Petition, Brian and Lisa Terry assert that Megan Dorothy was aware of the aggressive tendencies of the client, yet Brian Terry was sent to render services for the client without assistance. Megan Dorothy also failed to warn Brian Terry of the dangers associated with working with aggressive clients. App.4-8.

ARGUMENT

I. A gross negligence claim is both permissible and appropriate under the facts of this case.

As pointed out by the Honorable Bethany Currie in her Order Granting the defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment, generally speaking "the

Iowa Workers' Compensation Act is the exclusive remedy for employees seeking to recover damages for their workplace injuries." App.9; Iowa Code § 85.20. The exception to this is when an "injury is caused by another employee's gross negligence 'amounting to such lack of care as to amount to wanton neglect for the safety of another." *Nelson v. Lindaman,* 867 N.W.2d 1, 10 (Iowa 2015). Accordingly, the gross negligence claim brought by Brian and Lisa Terry is both appropriate and permissible under Iowa Code section 85.20(2).

The district court order clearly states that in order to succeed in a gross negligence claim. Stating that Brian and Lisa Terry must prove:

(1) knowledge of the peril to be apprehended; (2) knowledge that injury is a probable, as opposed to a possible, result of the danger; and (3) a conscious failure to avoid peril." Walker, 489 N.W.2d at 403 (citing Thompson v. Bohlken, 312 N.W.2d 501, 505 (Iowa 1981)). "[J]ob descriptions are insufficient, standing alone, to constitute 'actual knowledge' of the [hazardous] conditions." *Id.* at 406. A co-employee "may be deemed 'grossly negligent' undersection 85.20 only when the employee intentionally does an act of a highly unreasonable character. *Id.* App. 9.

Despite providing this analysis, the Judge Currie never looks at gross negligence itself but rather summary judgment is granted based on the "effects of compromise settlement." Unfortunately, this is where the district court erred. While there is no dispute that an approved

settlement by the workers' compensation commissioner is binding on the parties, and that workers' compensation cases are the sole remedy against an *employer* for a work injury, neither of these points are relevant in the case at hand.

First of all, it is extremely important to point out that paragraphs 13 through 21 of the Petition in this matter specifically address gross negligence—which fall under the clear exception presented in Iowa Code §85.20. App. 5-6. These specific paragraphs discuss Ms. Dorothy as a coemployee of Brian Terry. Ms. Dorothy was the program supervisor at LSI who had the power to delegate work—including the assignment to provide care for his assailant—to Mr. Terry. *Id*.

Moreover, Brian Terry is not pursuing inconsistent remedies as a redress for the same wrong. As previously stated, Mr. Terry entered a compromise agreement with LSI pertaining to his work injury. The settlement documents for the workers' compensation matter list only LSI and their insurer as defendants. In other words, Megan Dorothy was not a party to the workers' compensation case and she was most certainly not a party to the workers' compensation settlement. In her Motion for Summary Judgment, Megan Dorothy relied on a Florida case stating that a plaintiff relinquishes her ""option to collect tort damages against any

party liable for her workers' compensation award." See *Ferraro v. Marr*, 490 So.2d 188 (Dist. Ct. App. Fla. 1986). However, it seems that there are no relevant Iowa cases stating that a co-employee not party to a workers' compensation case cannot be sued for gross negligence. In fact, it says the complete opposite in Iowa Code §85.20(2).

Beyond the fact that Iowa Code § 85.20 allows a workers' compensation claim and a gross negligence claim, possibly the most important factor of this case is the language of the workers' compensation documents themselves. App. 18-22. The actual compromise settlement documents release the workers' compensation claims relating to the October 2015 injury sustained by Brian Terry. Id. These documents were approved by the workers' compensation commissioner. Had the documents contemplated or intended to waive all claims in any jurisdiction—or had they presented as such—the Commissioner would have denied the documents for lack of jurisdiction. After all, the Iowa Workers' Compensation Commissioner only has jurisdiction over Section 85 and does not have the authority beyond that. More simply put, these are not just "settlement" documents but rather proposed orders of the agency, and thus subject to the subject matter jurisdiction of the workers' compensation commissioner. Just as a commissioner cannot order punitive damages in workplace injury case decisions, a commissioner cannot approve an order barring a claimant from seeking remedies outside of Iowa Code chapters 85, 85A, and 86.

Comparatively, had this matter been decided at the agency level the workers' compensation arbitration decision would have still been specifically regarding Bryan Terry and LSI. The hypothetical arbitration decision could not have released Megan Dorothy from liability due to gross negligence as she was not a party to the case and the agency would have lacked jurisdiction. Therefore, no matter how you look at it, the lack of jurisdiction and the fact Megan Dorothy was never a party to the workers' compensation claim are extremely important.

Despite the fact that the settlement documents, and who was a party to the settlement is crystal clear, Judge Currie chose to ignore them. Rather, she focused on the contractual nature of a settlement, stating that the intention of the parties must be examined when interpreting settlement agreements. App. 15. This analysis by the district court is flawed. After all, if it was the intention of the parties to waive all claims against Ms. Dorothy, she would have been specifically listed in the settlement documents—and the original workers' compensation filing.

Again, bringing light to the fact that there are two separate causes of action available to Mr. Terry relating to his October 2015 injuries—the first being his settled workers' compensation claim and the second being a claim of gross negligence brought again Megan Dorothy.

Ultimately, making it clear that Brian Terry's compromise settlement before the Iowa Workers' Compensation Commission does not bar a claim against gross negligence.

II. Since a gross negligence claim is appropriate, the loss of consortium claim stands.

The district court order dismissed the loss of consortium claim filed by Lisa Terry based on the fact the gross negligence claim of Brian Terry was dismissed. In dismissing the claim, the district court stated that the "rights of recovery by the [non-injured spouse are] all based upon the [injured spouse's] right to recover for [his or] her direct injuries. Where the defendant is not guilty of a tort which would give a right of action to the [injured spouse,] the [non-injured spouse] cannot maintain an action for consequential damages." *Ziegler v. U.S. Gypsum Co.*, 251 Iowa 714, 715-716, 102 N.W.2d 152, 153 (1960).

While Brian and Lisa Terry do not dispute the logic behind dismissing the loss of consortium claim, the fact that the gross negligence

claim was inappropriately dismissed, the loss of consortium claim would remain valid. Accordingly, the loss of consortium claim is a question that should be presented to the jury, secondary to Brian Terry's gross negligence claim.

CONCLUSION

Ultimately, the district court erred in dismissing not only Brian Terry's gross negligence claim against Megan Dorothy, but also Lisa Terry's loss of consortium claim. While Mr. Terry did enter a compromise workers' compensation settlement against his previous employer, LSI, this compromise settlement in no way involved his co-employee Megan Dorothy directly. Therefore, the claims brought forth in the October 12, 2017 district court petition should be reinstated and a new trial date should be set in Story County.