#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

#### No. 18-1545

#### **BRIAN AND LISA TERRY**

Plaintiffs/Appellants,

VS.

#### **MEGAN DOROTHY**

Defendant/Appellee,

# APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR STORY COUNTY THE HONORABLE BETHANY CURRIE, PRESIDING

#### APPELLEE'S BRIEF

SMITH MILLS SCHROCK BLADES MONTHEI, P.C. Charles A. Blades AT0000916 118 3<sup>rd</sup> Ave SE, Suite 200 P. O. Box 36 Cedar Rapids, IA 52406-0036 Telephone: (319) 286-1743

Fax: (319) 286-1748

Email: cblades@smithmillslaw.com ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANTS

##

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

# WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT AS TO ALL OF PLAINTIFFS' CLAIMS

Johnson v. Farmer, 537 N.W.2d 770 (Iowa 1995)

Nelson v. Winnebago Indus. 619 N.W.2d 385 (Iowa 2000)

United Fire & Cas. Co. v. St. Paul Fire and Marine Ins. Co., 677 N.W.2d 755 (Iowa 2004)

Walker v. Mlakar, 489 N.W.2d 401 (Iowa 1992)

Iowa Code §§85.20 and 85.35(9)

#### ROUTING STATEMENT

This case is appropriate for referral to the Iowa Court of Appeals because it presents the application of existing legal principles.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

*Nature of the Case/Course of Proceedings Below:* 

Plaintiffs Brian and Lisa Terry filed a lawsuit against defendant Dorothy alleging liability for co-employee gross negligence pursuant to Iowa Code §85.20. Prior to such filing, plaintiff Brian Terry entered into a compromise settlement of his underlying workers compensation claim pursuant to Iowa Code §85.35(3). The settlement documents as approved by the commissioner explicitly released all claims against co-employees.

On August 27, 2018, the district court granted defendant's motion for summary judgment, ruling that by entering a compromise settlement – and by virtue of the Commissioner's subsequent approval thereof – Mr. Terry lost any further rights to pursue damages under Iowa Code §85.20 for gross negligence against a co-employee both because the approved settlement documents specifically include a release for all co-employees and because Iowa Code §85.35(9) provides that a compromise settlement approved by the commissioner is a final bar to any further rights under Chapter 85 regarding the subject matter of the compromise. The district court also specifically granted summary judgment as

to Mrs. Terry's loss of consortium claim. Plaintiffs now appeal the district court's summary judgment ruling.

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

On October 12, 2017, plaintiffs Brian and Lisa Terry filed a petition at law seeking to recover damages for alleged personal injuries allegedly caused by a work related incident occurring on October 14, 2015. (App. p. 4). Plaintiffs' petition alleges that co-employee gross negligence on the part of defendant Megan Dorothy caused plaintiffs' injuries and damages. (App. p. 6).

At all material times, plaintiff Brian Terry and defendant Megan Dorothy were co-employees of Lutheran Services in Iowa, Inc. (LSI) (App. p. 4-5).

On July 27, 2017, the Iowa Workers Compensation Commissioner approved a compromise settlement pursuant to Iowa Code §85.35(3) of the workers compensation claim filed by plaintiff Brian Terry against LSI and its workers compensation carrier. (App. pp. 18-20). Exhibit A to the compromise settlement documents, entitled "Additional Terms of Settlement," includes the following:

Claimant agrees that the payment of [\$XXX] is acceptable to Claimant as a full and final compromised settlement, satisfaction, and final discharge of all claims and demands that may exist against Lutheran Services of Iowa, Inc., West Bend Mutual Insurance Company, and any of their officers, directors, employees, agents, subsidiaries, affiliates, and parent companies ("Released Parties"), by reason of his employment and by reason of all injuries or damages sustained by Claimant on or about October 14, 2015, through his association with the

Released Parties. The parties stipulate that the date of injury released in this document represents any and all claims of injuries that claimant may have against the Released Parties relating to any of the body parts or systems as set forth in the following paragraph.

In consideration of this payment, Claimant releases and discharges the Released Parties *from all liability*, including liability under the Iowa Workers' Compensation Law, for the above injury or injuries, including without limitation hip, back or neck injury, head injury, brain injury, headaches, dizziness, tinnitus, vertigo, fatigue, visual disturbances, neurological injury, any sequelae of the same, and any and all psychological or mental injuries releated to the alleged October [14], 2015 work injury through the date of settlement.

(Emphasis added.) (App. p. 21-22).

Plaintiff Terry's workers compensation claim and compromise settlement arises out of and involves the same subject matter as plaintiffs' petition at law herein, <u>i.e.</u>, personal injuries allegedly caused by the alleged October 14, 2015 workplace incident. (App. p. 4-8, 18-20, 21-22).

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The appellate court reviews a district court's ruling on a motion for summary judgment for correction of errors at law. *Sweeney v. City of Bettendorf*, 762 N.W.2d 873, 877 (Iowa 2009). Summary judgment is appropriate when the moving party proves no genuine issue of material fact exists on the record. *Berte v. Bode*, 692 N.W.2d 368, 370 (Iowa 2005). "Summary judgment is appropriate if the only conflict concerns the legal consequences of undisputed

facts." *Peppmeier v. Murphy*, 708 N.W.2d 57, 58 (Iowa 2005). If reasonable minds can differ on how a material fact issue should be resolved, summary judgment should not be granted. *Hills Bank & Trust Co. v. Converse*, 772 N.W.2d 764, 771 (Iowa 2009). The reviewing court makes every legitimate inference that can be reasonably deduced from the evidence in favor of the nonmoving party. <u>Id</u>.

#### **ARGUMENT**

# I. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF DEFENDANT

The district court correctly ruled that defendant is entitled to summary judgment. The material facts are undisputed: plaintiff Brian Terry entered into a compromise settlement of his workers compensation claim with his employer, Lutheran Services of Iowa, Inc. and its insurer pursuant to Iowa Code §85.35(3). The compromise settlement documents were signed by Plaintiff Brian Terry and his attorney on July 21, 2017. (App. p. 18-20, 21-22). The compromise settlement was approved by the workers' compensation commissioner on July 27, 2017. (App. p. 18).

The settlement documents as approved by the commissioner contain the following provision:

Claimant agrees that the payment of [\$XXX] is acceptable to Claimant as a full and final compromised settlement, satisfaction, and final discharge of all claims and demands that may exist against Lutheran Services of Iowa, Inc., West Bend Mutual Insurance Company, *and* 

any of their officers, directors, *employees*, agents, subsidiaries, affiliates, and parent companies ("Released Parties"), by reason of his employment and by reason of all injuries or damages sustained by Claimant on or about October 14, 2015, through his association with the Released Parties. The parties stipulate that the date of injury released in this document represents any and all claims of injuries that claimant may have against the Released Parties relating to any of the body parts or systems as set forth in the following paragraph.

In consideration of this payment, Claimant releases and discharges the Released Parties *from all liability*, including liability under the Iowa Workers' Compensation Law, for the above injury or injuries, including without limitation hip, back or neck injury, head injury, brain injury, headaches, dizziness, tinnitus, vertigo, fatigue, visual disturbances, neurological injury, any sequelae of the same, and any and all psychological or mental injuries releated to the alleged October [14], 2015 work injury through the date of settlement.

(Emphasis added.) (App. p. 21-22).

Pursuant to the Iowa Code §85.35(9), the compromise settlement pursuant to Iowa Code §85.35(3) serves as as a final bar to plaintiffs' coemployee gross negligence claim herein. Iowa Code §85.35(9) states:

Approval of a settlement by the workers' compensation commissioner is binding on the parties and shall not be construed as an original proceeding. *Notwithstanding any provisions* of this chapter and chapters 85A, 85B, 86 and 87, an approved compromise settlement shall constitute a final bar to *any further* rights arising under this chapter and chapters 85A, 85B, 86, and 87 regarding the subject matter of the compromise and a payment made pursuant to a compromise settlement agreement

shall not be construed as the payment of weekly compensation. (Emphasis added.)

As stated by the Iowa Supreme Court in In *Bankers Standard Ins. Co. v. Stanley*, 661 N.W.2d 178 (Iowa 2003), an approved compromise settlement is a final bar to any further rights under all of the workers' compensations statutes "without qualification or limitation." 661 N.W.2d at pp. 181-182. The language of §85.35 contains no limitation on the "final bar to any further rights" other than the bar applies only to those rights arising under chapters 85, 85A, 85B, 86, and 87." *Id.* at p. 182.

In *Bankers Trust*, the Iowa Supreme Court applied the "final bar" of §85.35(9) to to preclude an employer/insurance carrier from pursuing a lien/indemnification claim against a third party pursuant to Iowa Code §85.21 and Iowa Code §85.22. The court concluded that the compromise settlement the insurer reached with the employee barred the employer's §85.22 indemnification rights. 661 N.W.2d at p. 183.

In *United Fire & Cas. Co. v. St. Paul Fire and Marine Ins. Co.*, 677 N.W.2d 755 (Iowa 2004), the Iowa Supreme Court held that the "final bar" of 85.39(9) precluded an employer/insurance carrier from pursuing claims for contribution and indemnity against another employer/insurance carrier pursuant to Iowa Code \$85.21. 677 N.W.2d at pp. 760-761.

#### Iowa Code §85.20 states in pertinent part:

The rights and remedies provided in this chapter, chapter 85A or chapter 85B for an employee ... on account of injury, occupational disease or occupational hearing loss for which benefits under this chapter, chapter 85A or chapter 85B are recoverable, shall be the exclusive and only rights and remedies of the employee . . . personal or legal representatives, dependents, or next of kin, at common law or otherwise, on account of such injury, occupational disease, or occupational hearing loss against any of the following:

- 1. Against the employee's employer.
- 2. Against any other employee of such employer, provided that such injury, occupational disease, or occupation hearing loss arises out of and in the course of such employment and is not caused by the other employee's gross negligence amounting to such lack of care as to amount to wanton neglect for the safety of another.

\*\*\*

An employee's rights and remedies, at common law or otherwise, arising from a job-related injury as governed exclusively by the workers' compensation act under the jurisdiction of the workers' compensation commissioner. *White v. Northwestern Bell Tele. Co.*, 514 N.W.2d 70, 74 (Iowa 1994).

The allowance of a co-employee gross negligence action is a narrow exception to the exclusive remedy provision of the workers' compensation statute. *Walker v. Mlakar*, 489 N.W.2d 401, 403 (Iowa 1992). Thus while an injured worker may maintain a common law tort against a co-employee, whether the claim

is actionable is determined by the worker's compensation statute. *Walker*, 489 N.W.2d at. pp 403-404.

In order to succeed on his gross negligence claim under §85.20, the plaintiff must meet the standards the Iowa Supreme Court has determined need to be proven under Iowa Code §85.20. *Walker*, 489 N.W.2d at p. 403. "[T]here are three elements necessary to establish a co-employee's "gross negligence" *under Iowa Code §85.20...*" *Id.* (Emphasis added). The three elements the plaintiff must prove unique to a claim under §85.20 are (1) knowledge of the peril to be apprehended; (2) knowledge that injury is a probable, as opposed to a possible, result of the danger; and (3) a conscious failure to avoid the peril. *Id.* See also *Henrich v. Lorenz*, 448 N.W.2d 327 (Iowa 1989) (describing co-employee gross negligent suit as a §85.20 suit). *Thompson v. Bohlken* 312 N.W.2d 501 (Iowa 1981); *Anderson v. Bushong*, 829 N.W.2d 191, 2013 WL 530961 (Iowa App. 2013).

Further, plaintiff Brian Terry's compromise settlement agreement with LSI is a contract and the principles of contract law apply. *Mid-America Real Estate Co. v. Iowa Realty Co., Inc.* 385 F.Supp.2d 828, 834 (S.D. Iowa 2005). "It is well established in Iowa case law that settlement agreements are essentially contracts and therefore principles of contract law govern the creation, interpretation and enforceability of such agreements." *Id.* 

"It is the cardinal principle of contract construction that the parties' intent controls; and except in cases of ambiguity, this is determined by what the contract itself says." *Hargrave v. Grain Processing Corp.*, 863 N.W.2d 302; 2015 WL 1331706 \*3 (Iowa App. 2015) (unpublished opinion). Unless there is ambiguity, the intent of the parties is determined by what the contract says. *Id.* "Courts must strive to give effect to *all the language* of a contract. [Emphasis added] *Fashion Fabrics of Iowa, Inc. v. Retail Investors Corp.*, 266 N.W.2d 22, 26 (Iowa 1978). Furthermore, an agreement must be interpreted as a whole. *Id.* at 26.

With the above principles in mind, it is clear that plaintiff Terry released any claim he might have against the defendant Dorothy involving his work place injury. It is undisputed that the compromise settlement documents state that plaintiff Terry releases "any and all claims" he may have against the "Released Parties." (App. p. 21) Released Parties is definied as the employer (LSI), its insurance carrier "and any of their officers, directors, *employees*, agents, subsidiaries, affiliates, and parent companies" (*Id.*) It is undisputed that defendant Dorthy is an employee of LSI. As a "Released Party," Dorothy is released and discharged "from all liability, including liability under the Iowa Workers' Compensation Law, for the above injury or injuries..." (*Id.*) There is no limitation on the extent of the release and discharge in the compromise settlement other than it pertains to matters covered by Chapter 85 of the Iowa Code. The

commissioner would not have approved the compromise settlement if it pertained to matters outside of Chapter 85. By approving settlements including releases in favor of employees such occurred in this case, the commissioner acknowledges that the release of claims against co-employees is within his purview.

There is nothing ambiguous about the language quoted above from the parties' compromise settlement agreement. The clear and plain language in the workers' compensation settlement documents establish that plaintiff Terry released his employer and any employees including Dorothy, for any injuries or damages caused by his work injury.

Plaintiff Terry did not include any language in the worker's compensation settlement attempting to preserve a gross negligence claim. Even if he had attempted to preserve a claim for gross negligence by including such language in the settlement documents, it would be of no effect. *United Fire & Cas.*, 677 N.W. 2d at 758. In the *United Fire* case, the workers' compensation insurance carrier included language in a compromise settlement with the injured worker, that it would proceed against another insurance carrier to recover benefits paid. "Despite this language in the agreement, the approval of the compromise special case settlement by the workers' compensation commissioner extinguished the insurance carrier's right to indemnification and contribution under §85.21." *Id.* at p. 761.

Looking at all of the clearly stated language in the approved compromise settlement documents, the only conclusion that can be reached is that plaintiff Terry released any and all claims he may have against not only his employer and its insurer, but also against their employees. As defendant is one of the employees covered by the language in the settlement documents, her motion for summary judgment is properly granted.

In the absence of plaintiff Terry having an actionable claim, his wife Lisa's claim must be dismissed, as the district court ruled. She does not have a separate claim for loss of consortium under Iowa's workers' compensation statute as Iowa Code §85.20 "expressly provides that workers' compensation remedies 'shall be the exclusive and only rights and remedies of such employee, the employee's personal or legal representatives, dependents, or next of kin, at common law or otherwise, on account of such injury." Johnson v. Farmer, 537 N.W.2d 770, 773 (Iowa 1995). In *Johnson*, the claimant alleged a gross negligence claim against her supervisor, which claim was dismissed on summary judgment. This was affirmed by the Iowa Supreme Court. Id. at 773. The district court also dismissed the consortium claims, finding the claims precluded by §85.20. This ruling was also affirmed by the Iowa Supreme Court. Id. at 773. See also Good v. Tyson Foods, Inc. 756 N.W.2d 42 (Iowa 2008) in which the injured worker and her spouse filed a claim of gross negligence against the employer. *Id.* at 44. The Iowa Supreme Court affirmed the summary judgment dismisssal of the claim. The Court further noted that, based on the *Johnson v. Farmer* case, the parties agreed that if the injured worker's claim failed, the loss of consortium claim also failed. *Good*, 756 N.W.2d at p. 47, fn 4. Therefore this claim must be dismissed in its entirety.

The clear statutory language of §85.20 and §85.35(9) mandate the outcome in this case that defendant is entitled to the summary judgment as granted by the district court. Further, plaintiffs have already been compensated for the injuries and damages alleged in their petition through the compromise settlement that was approved by the workers' compensation commissioner pursuant to Iowa Code §85.35(3). In filing this co-employee gross negligence claim after the compromise settlement of the workers' compensation claim, plaintiffs are essentially seeking double recovery of the same alleged damanges for past and future loss of earnings, loss of earning capacity and past and future medical expenses. Plaintiffs' exlusive remedy for such damages is under Iowa Code chapter 85. Nelson v. Winnebago *Indus*, 619 N.W.2d 385, 389-390 (Iowa 2000). Allowing this co-employee gross negligence suit to go forward would allow two different and inconsistent remedies. Bolinger v. Kiburz, 270 N.W.2d 603 (Iowa 1978) and Gourley v. Nielson, 318 N.W.2d 160 (Iowa 1982). The compromise settlement under Iowa Code §85.35(3) and the final bar of §85.35(9) prevents such inconsistent remedies.

#### **CONCLUSION**

For the reasons set forth herein, defendant respectfully requests this court to affirm the district court's summary judgment in their favor. The district court correctly held that defendant is entitled to summary judgment as a matter of law on plaintiffs' co-employee gross negligence claim because the compromise settlement of plaintiff's workers' compensation claim involving the same subject matter as plaintiff's co-employee gross negligence claim, bars the co-employee gross negligence claim pursuant to the final bar set forth in Iowas Code §85.35(9) and/or plaintiffs have released the co-employee gross negligence claim pursuant to the clearly stated language set forth in the compromise settlement approved by the commissioner.

#### **REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT**

Appellee requests oral argument.

SMITH MILLS SCHROCK BLADES MONTHEI, P.C.

\_\_\_\_\_

Charles A. Blades AT0000916 118 3<sup>rd</sup> Ave SE, Suite 200

hal A Stade

P. O. Box 36

Cedar Rapids, IA 52406-0036 Telephone: (319) 286-1743

Fax: (319) 286-1748

Email: cblades@smithmillslaw.com

Attorney for Appellee